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Name: TRINITY COLLEGE

County: Cambridgeshire

District: Cambridge (District Authority)
Parish: Non Civil Parish

label.localisation:  Latitude: 52.206678
Longitude: 0.11319509
National Grid Reference: TL 44496 58599
Map: Download afull scale map (PDF)

label.overview:  Heritage Category: Park and Garden
Grade: I
List Entry Number: 1000633
Datefirst listed: 16-Jan-1985

Details

College courts, landscaped pleasure grounds and gardens, laid out C16-C19, including the informal Victorian pleasure ground
known as the Fellows Garden.

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT

Trinity College was founded in 1546 by Henry VI1I from two earlier colleges, the King's Hall and Michaelhouse, and various
other smaller hostels. Building continued during the C16 and C17, and Sir Christopher Wren (1632-1723) was commissioned
to design the library which was built from the 1670s to the 1690s, with further development during the C19. The site remains
(1998) in college use.

DESCRIPTION

LOCATION, AREA, BOUNDARIES, LANDFORM, SETTING Trinity Collegeliesat the centre of Cambridge, onflat ground
crossed by the River Cam and various drainage ditches. The ¢ 9ha college is bounded to the north by St John's College (qv), to
the east by Trinity Street and beyond this the city centre, and to the south by Trinity Hall (qv), Clare College (qv) and Gonville
and Caius College, divided from them by various drains and Garret Hostel Lane which runs along the length of the college
south boundary. Trinity College is set within a group of city-centre colleges, cut from north to south by the river and Queens
Road, the area between these two features forming the centre section of the sequence of five adjacent college gardens and
meadows which, taken together, are known as The Backs. In 1779 Lancelot Brown (1716-83) provided a plan to landscape
The Backs, including that part of Trinity College west of Nevile's Court. He intended to widen the river into a serpentine lake,
and remove the boundaries between individual college grounds together with King's, Clare and Trinity College bridges, using
King's College Gibbs Building as the substitute focal point for a great house. This plan was never carried out and The Backs
remain individually owned and designed pleasure grounds and gardens.

ENTRANCES, APPROACHES AND COURTS The collegeis approached at its east end, off Trinity Street, along a short path
to the Great Gate gatehouse tower (1518-35), beneath which is the archway giving access into the east side of Great Court
(C15-C19, listed grade I). Thislarge court, covering ¢ 2ha, was formed by Thomas Nevile (Master of the college 1593-1615)
who demolished many existing buildings to create a coherent space, and moved the clock tower, King Edward's Tower, north
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to its present position at the centre of the north range. The court contains six unequal, rectangular panels of lawn, divided by
cobbled areas with stone paths. At the centre stands a fountain (1602, rebuilt R Grumbold 1716, listed grade I) with raised
basins enclosed by a colonnade springing from the top of the main basin, supporting a decorated ogee roof. A simple stone
baluster sundial (Troughton of London 1704, listed grade|1) stands several metres north of the fountain, marking the site of King
Edward's Tower before its removal further north. In the late C17 (Loggan, 1690) the grass panels were edged with balustrade,
that around the fountain being five-sided to follow the shape of the fountain's base.

Opposite King Edward's Tower, within the south range, stands the Queen's Gate (c 1597), with a statue of Queen Elizabeth |
over the archway, giving accessto Trinity Laneto the south. A set of semicircular stone steps |eads up to a passage through the
west range, past the south entrance to the Hall, giving access to Nevile's Court, emerging at the south-east corner of that court.
The doorway emerges onto araised stone terrace running along the east range (largely consisting of the Hall) of the court. The
terrace is edged with a balustrade and contains a triple flight of stone steps down to the perimeter path around the court. A
broad central flight of steps standsin front of the Roman Doric Tribunal screen set against the Hall'swest wall (Sir Christopher
Wren 1682-3, supervised Robert Grumbold, listed grade | as part of the court), and is flanked by two curved flights. The court
islaid to lawn with aperimeter path running beneath the north, west and south ranges within aclassical cloister. The west range
(Sir Christopher Wren 1676-95, supervised Robert Grumbold, listed grade I), known as the Wren Library, contains the library
on its upper two storeys, whilst at ground level an open undercroft is supported on Roman Doric columns. The open east side
of the undercroft overlooks the court, whilst the west side overlooks the river and The Backs beyond, through wrought-iron
screened window openings, with three doorways evenly spaced along the wall. The doorways contain elaborate wrought-iron
screens with gates dating from the construction of the range ¢ 1691-2, giving onto the informal lawn between the river and the
library range. Both sides of the river bank adjacent to this lawn are planted with several mature weeping willows. In the late
C17 (Loggan, 1688) the lawn had not been laid out. It was levelled 1746-7, and turf and gravel walkslaid out in 1760. In 1761
payment was made 'to Harrison the Gardner for Planting North-American Poplars, weeping-willows, and other Aquatics, under
the wall next theriver', an early mention of weeping willowsin Cambridge (Architectural Review 1947).

The south range of Nevile's Court is open on the south side, giving onto New Court (William Wilkins 1823-5, listed grade I),
in Tudor-gothic style, of three storeys. At the centre lies a circular lawn with a mature specimen tree, surrounded by a gravel
drive. An archway through the gatehouse in the east range gives access along a short passage via Nevile's Gate (c 1610, listed
grade I1*) to Trinity Lane. Nevile's Gate was moved in the late C17 from its origina position, before the Wren Library was
constructed, at the centre of the old wall bounding the west side of Nevile's Court, which then did not extend asfar west (Pevsner
1970). A similar archway in the west range of New Court gives access to the path running west across the river and between
the Paddocks to the Master's and Fellows' Gardens on the west side of Queens Road.

The path from New Court, flanked by alime avenue with informal lawns on either side, runs 50m west to Trinity Bridge (James
Essex 1765, listed gradel), atriple-arched ashlar bridge with asolid parapet wall, replacing at least two earlier structures on the
same site (Loggan in 1690 shows the previous structure, built 1651, following the destruction of the first bridge during the Civil
War). The path and avenue continue west from the bridge, rai sed above the surrounding ground, flanked by the North and South
Paddocks, two rectangular open lawns with gravel perimeter paths, the whole area bounded by drainage ditches to the north,
west and south. The North Paddock contains a level, sunken area of lawn with araised grass terrace along its east side. From
here views extend north across St John's lawns, particularly focused on the New Building and St John's Bridge. Views south
arelargely interrupted by the adjacent Clare College Fellows Garden, although from Trinity Bridge there are glimpses of Clare
and King's Bridges. In the late C17 (Loggan, 1688, 1690) the Paddocks werelaid out in very similar style, with atriple avenue
of trees aong the central path, and avenues enclosing the perimeter paths, the area referred to as Trinity College Meadow.
The west end of the path is marked by a wrought-iron gateway (from Horseheath Hall, erected 1733 but of earlier date, listed
grade |) above a small bridge. The elaborate gateway contains three gates, all with overthrows, and short lengths of flanking
railings forming the parapet of the bridge, probably of 1733. The gateways give onto Trinity Pieces, the path continuing west
flanked by the North and South Pieces which arelaid to informal lawn with specimen trees. Subsidiary paths run to north-west
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and south-west from the gateway to the road. The main path continues across the road to the main entrance to the Fellows'
Garden standing opposite.

GARDENS The Fellows' Garden is approached across Queens Road from Trinity Pieces, entered through a set of double
wrought-iron gates with an overthrow, brought from Rectory Manorhouse, Enfield, Middlesex, set between modern stone piers
(mid C18, erected C20, listed grade I1). This gateway stands on an axis with the main path from the college buildings, opposite
the gateway between Trinity Pieces and the Paddocks. The entrance lies towards the north-east corner of the Fellows Garden,
laid out informally in 1873 by W Broderick Thomas who &l so designed the grounds of Sandringham (qv) and Buckingham
Palace (qv) (Gray 1984). The Garden is bounded by an informal belt of trees and shrubs, with many evergreens, through which
winds a perimeter path, encircling a lawn which is crossed by a path linking the west and east sides of the perimeter path.
The lawn contains several island beds planted with trees and shrubs which prevent an open view of the whole garden. A small
mound lies close to the entrance, to the south-east, planted with evergreen trees and shrubs enclosing a small summerhouse,
with afurther sinuous mound (late C20) adjacent to the south side of the cross path. A straight path (late C20) leads west from
the garden entrance, flanked by an avenue of trees. This feature stands on the site of an elm avenue lost in the 1970s. A small
circular feature with formal beds (late C20) has been laid out south of the mound.

The layout of the Garden is similar to that of the late C19/early C20 (OS 1902), athough the path system in the north-west
corner has been dlightly atered (late C20) to accommodate the paved circle at the west end of the avenue path, and there are
fewer specimen treesin the lawn.

The bowling green lies adjacent to St John's College, north of Great Court, approached via a passage through the north range to
the west of King Edward's Tower. This enclosed garden is bounded to the north by a high brick wall, overlooked by the south
ranges of St John's College, to the east by arange of brick and stone chambers known as King's Hostel (part of King's Hall,
C15, listed grade 1), to the south by atall brick and stone wall (medieval and later, listed grade 1) which forms the boundary
with the Master's L odge garden, and to the west by the river. The garden contains arectangular bowling green surrounded by a
gravel perimeter path, with, on the south side atall, clipped beech hedge which prevents views from St John'sinto the Master's
Garden. The south side of the perimeter path runs between the hedge and the boundary wall. At the west end the ground rises up
to aterrace, bounded by alow wall, over which extend views of St John'slawns, bridges and New Building, aswell as oblique
views south-west towards Trinity's own Paddocks. This enclosure was the garden of King's Hall in the C15 and C16, before
the college was founded. In the mid to late C16 (Lyne 1574; Hamond, 1592) it appears to have been laid out in two sections,
each with its own formal knot enclosed by trees, with asmall building at the north end of the riverside boundary. The bowling
green was laid out 1647-8 (Willis and Clark 1886), and is shown by Loggan (1688, 1690) in very similar form to now (1998),
enclosed by walls, with two low buildings at the riverside.

The Master's Garden to the south of the bowling green seems to have been elaborately laid out during the C16 and C17 (Lyne,
1574; Hamond, 1592; Loggan, 1688, 1690) in a style similar to the bowling green area during the C16, with two sections,
each with its own elaborate knot feature, and possibly a viewing mount at the centre of the west section. By the late C17 the
garden was laid out in six smaller rectangular sections flanking an axia path leading to the riverside, with a central square
gazebo and small circular pond.
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Description written: February 1998 Register Inspector: SR Edited: January 2001

Lega
This garden or other land is registered under the Historic Buildings and Ancient Monuments Act 1953 within the Register of
Historic Parks and Gardens by Historic England for its special historic interest.
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